SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 2 0 2011

Frederiek K. Onliten Ölerk

In the Supreme Court

OF THE

State of California

Deputy

RIVERISLAND COLD STORAGE, INC., LANCE WORKMAN, PAM WORKMAN, LAURENCE A. WORKMAN, CAROLE WORKMAN and WORKMAN FAMILY LIVING TRUST,

Plaintiffs/Appellants

VS.

FRESNO-MADERA PRODUCTION CREDIT ASSOCIATION,

Defendant/Respondent

After Rehearing Denied and After the Published Opinion In the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District 5th Civil No. F058434

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

In proving fraud in the inducement of a contract, does the "fraud exception" to the parol evidence rule permit a party who has had a full opportunity to review a contract before signing it to introduce evidence of prior or contemporaneous representations as to the terms contained in the agreement which are directly contradicted by the signed writing?

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs contend that defendant fraudulently induced them into signing a fully integrated loan forbearance agreement. The claimed inducement to sign the agreement was defendant's alleged oral representations before and at the time of signing that the agreement provided that defendant would not collect on the loan for 2 years if plaintiffs would pledge two orchard properties as additional security. These alleged representations are directly at variance with the terms of the written agreement, which provide that in addition to the two orchard properties, plaintiffs pledge their residence and a truck yard as additional security for the loan, and defendant will not collect on the loan for about 3 months.

California's parol evidence rule generally prohibits a party from introducing any parol evidence which varies or contradicts the terms of an integrated written agreement. (Code of Civil Procedure section 1856, subdivision (a).) Under the statutory "fraud exception" to the parol evidence rule, however, a party is permitted to introduce parol evidence "to establish illegality or fraud." (Code of Civil Procedure section 1856, subdivision (g).)

This Court's controlling authority on the scope and application of the "fraud exception" is *Bank of America National Trust and Savings Association v. Pendergrass* (1935) 4 Cal.2d 258 ("*Pendergrass*") in which the Court declared: "Our conception of the rule which permits parol evidence of fraud to establish the invalidity of the instrument is that it must tend to establish some independent fact or representation, some fraud in the procurement of the instrument, or some breach of confidence concerning its use, and not a promise directly at variance with the promise in the writing. . . [F]raud may not be established by parol evidence to contradict the terms of the writing." (*Id.* at 263-264; emphasis added.)

In 2004, this Court, in *Casa Herrera, Inc. v. Beydoun* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 336 ("*Casa Herrera*") reaffirmed that pre-contract statements about contract terms are not admissible if they conflict with the terms of the writing, stating that "the parol evidence rule, as a practical matter, provides 'absolute protection from liability' for prior or contemporaneous statements at variance with the terms of a written integrated agreement." (*Id.* at 347, fn. omitted; emphasis added.)

Under this straightforward rule, therefore, plaintiffs' evidence is inadmissible, since defendant's alleged representations about the terms of the forbearance agreement which induced them to sign the agreement are directly at variance with the terms of the written document. However, some appellate courts have applied *Pendergrass* to preclude introduction of only those pre-execution

statements described as "false promises" about contract terms which are at variance with the terms of the writing. These cases hold that a "misrepresentation of fact" about contract terms that is made by one party to induce another to sign an agreement is admissible under the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule, even if directly at odds with the writing. (Continental Airlines, Inc. v. McDonnell Douglas Corp. (1989) 216 Cal.App.3d 375 ["Continental Airlines"]; Pacific State Bank v. Greene (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 375, 392, 394, 396 ["Greene"].)

Here, the Fifth District Court of Appeal followed this line of cases, construed defendant's alleged representations about the length of the loan forbearance period and the required additional collateral as "misrepresentations of fact" about the contract terms, not "promises," and held that the evidence is admissible under the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule. (Opn. at 16.)

This Court has never spoken on the differentiation between precontract "promises" about contract terms and pre-contract "misrepresentations of fact" as the test of admissibility in cases alleging fraud in the inducement, and this case squarely presents the Court with the opportunity to resolve this important issue.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Because this appeal arises from a summary judgment, we recite the pertinent facts as shown by plaintiffs' evidence, which are assumed to be true only for purposes of this proceeding, and defendant's undisputed evidence.¹

Plaintiff Lance Workman was a farm operator who owned more than 30 acres of real property in Tulare and Kings County, including a 30,000 square foot cold storage facility designed to store and preserve agricultural crops. (2 CT 341-342, 402-404.)

Defendant Fresno-Madera Production Credit Association ("PCA") provided financing to the Workmans² since 2001 through a series of loans secured by real and personal property and personal guarantees. (1 CT 11, 124, 227 [answer to special interrogatory no. 3]; 2 CT 402-404.) These were commonly referred to together as the "operating loan," which was due in full on January 1, 2007. (1 CT 124.)

The Workmans defaulted on the operating loan and they looked to PCA for relief. (1 CT 124-125; 2 CT 352-355.) The parties entered into a written forbearance agreement dated March 26, 2007, by which PCA agreed not to collect

¹ See, e.g., Balen v. Peralta Junior College Dist. (1974) 11 Cal.3d 821, 825; Raghavan v. Boeing Co. (2005) 133 Cal.App.4th 1120, 1125.

² The plaintiffs include Lance Workman, his wife Pam Workman, his parents Laurence and Carole Workman, the Workman Family Trust, and the Workmans' cold storage facility. For the sake of brevity and unless otherwise required by the circumstances, plaintiffs will be referred to collectively as "the Workmans."

on the loan until July 1, 2007, and the Workmans agreed to pledge additional real property as collateral, including two orchard properties, Lance and Pam Workman's residence, and a truck yard. (1 CT 11, 13, 18.) The July 1, 2007 due date and additional collateral are prominently and clearly set forth on page 3 of the 7-page forbearance agreement and in the deed of trust attached thereto. (1 CT 13, 18, 34-37.) The forbearance agreement contains an integration clause. (1 CT 16.)

The Workmans failed to make the payments required by the agreement by July 1, 2007, and PCA recorded a notice of default. (1 CT 125.)³

The Workmans filed this action on April 2, 2008, alleging they were fraudulently induced into entering into the forbearance agreement. (1 CT 1.) They claim that about two weeks before they signed the agreement, PCA's officer, David Ylarregui, told Lance Workman that if the Workmans pledged the two additional orchard properties as security, PCA would agree not to collect on the loan for two years. (1 CT 2:26-3:4; 2 CT 354 [62:20-63:19].) They claim that when Lance and Pam Workman met with Mr. Ylarregui to sign the agreement, deed of trust and other related documents on March 29, 2007, Mr. Ylarregui told them the agreement was for two years and included only the two orchards as additional security. (1 CT 3:5-11, 159:1-11; 2 CT 342:28-343:4, 354 [62:20-63:19, 64:21-65:10], 355 [67:23-68:11].)

³ Plaintiffs later repaid the operating loan and PCA dismissed its foreclosure proceedings. (1 CT 125.)

Lance and Pam Workman admit they did not review the agreement or other documents before they signed them. (1 CT 3:13-15, 159-160, 227:20-21, 228:17-19, 229:14-16, 230:7-9, 233:3-5, 233:27-234:1, 234:24-26, 282:17-19; 2 CT 331:8-14, 343:4-5, 349 [30:22-25].) Lance Workman admits that his initials appear next to the designation of his residence and truck yard as additional collateral in the deed of trust. (1 CT 62, 159:12-160:8.) He also admits that when he actually read the forbearance agreement and deed of trust, he was able to ascertain that the forbearance term was 97 days and that he had pledged his residence as collateral. (1 CT 162:16-163:5.)

The Workmans presented no evidence that they were denied the opportunity to read the agreement and other documents before signing and discover that the terms were not the same as the terms which they claim Mr. Ylarregui presented to them orally. They presented no evidence that Mr. Ylarregui prevented them from reading the documents or told them to sign the documents without reading them. They also presented no evidence that they suffered from blindness or any other physical handicap that prevented them from reading the documents before signing.

The trial court granted PCA's motion for summary judgment. The trial court followed this Court's controlling authority on the "fraud exception" to the parol evidence rule, *Pendergrass, supra*, 4 Cal.2d 258 and *Casa Herrera, supra*, 32 Cal.4th 336, and found that the Workmans' evidence was not admissible under the fraud exception because Mr. Ylarregui's alleged statements which

allegedly induced the Workmans to sign the forbearance agreement were in direct conflict with the plain language of the written agreement. (2 CT 496-502.) Therefore, the Workmans had not presented admissible evidence raising a triable issue of material fact that would prevent entry of judgment against them. (2 CT 496-502.)

The Court of Appeal reversed. The court relied on *Greene, supra*, 110 Cal.App.4th 375 and *Continental Airlines, supra*, 216 Cal.App.3d 375, in concluding that *Pendergrass* applied only to evidence of "promissory fraud" at variance with the writing, and not to evidence of a false statement or factual misrepresentation about the terms of the contract. (Opn. at 16-17.) The Court of Appeal held that Mr. Ylarregui's alleged statements were "misrepresentations of the content of the written contract" and therefore fell within the fraud exception and should have been admitted by the trial court in ruling on PCA's summary judgment motion. (Opn. at 17.) The appellate court further held that "misrepresentation of the terms of the written contract, in order to induce the other party to sign it, constitutes 'fraud in the procurement of the instrument'" under *Pendergrass*. (Opn. at 16.)

The Court of Appeal's opinion fails to address the issue of the Workmans' failure to meet the requirement that they show that they reasonably relied on the alleged misrepresentations. PCA brought this omission to the court's attention in its petition for rehearing, but the court simply denied the petition without explanation.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Workmans' entire case is based upon the allegation that Mr. Ylarregui falsely told them they had two years to repay the operating loan and their promise to pay was secured by only the two orchards. If the Workmans' testimony about this statement is barred by the parol evidence rule, the whole case fails.

As PCA noted above and in the Petition for Review, this Court long ago directed the result in this case by the straightforward rule laid out in *Pendergrass* and reaffirmed in *Casa Herrera*: Regardless of whether characterized as "promises" or "misrepresentations of fact," Mr. Ylarregui's alleged prior and contemporaneous statements about the terms of the forbearance agreement, which the Workmans claim induced them to sign the agreement, do not fall within the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule because they are "directly at variance" with the terms of the writing.

PCA is not asking the Court to eliminate or narrow the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule, or to establish a new rule. As *Pendergrass* mandates, a plaintiff can still present evidence under the fraud exception to establish he was fraudulently induced to sign a contract when the parol evidence "tend[s] to establish some independent fact or representation," i.e., where the fraud relates to extrinsic matters not covered by the written agreement. An example of this kind of extrinsic fraud is where the defendant examines the brakes on plaintiff's car and then falsely tells plaintiff the brakes are badly worn and need

replacement, and this induces plaintiff to sign an agreement to purchase new brakes. In this example, the plaintiff is not attacking or contradicting the terms of the written agreement for the new brakes – something he cannot do under the parol evidence rule. Instead, the plaintiff is showing false representations <u>independent</u> of the writing that induced him to enter into the contract.

As *Pendergrass* also mandates, a plaintiff can still present evidence of fraud in the inducement when it involves "some breach of confidence." An example of this kind of fraud might be where the defendant is in a fiduciary relationship to the plaintiff and by reason of this special relationship, plaintiff may be entitled to rely on defendant's statements of what the writing contains without reading it.

And consistent with *Pendergrass*, a plaintiff may still present evidence under the fraud exception to establish "fraud in the execution or procurement" of an instrument, where the plaintiff is deceived as to the <u>character</u> or <u>nature</u> of the document he signs. An example of this type of fraud is where the defendant tells plaintiff he is signing a receipt for a deposit, when it really is a contract with binding promises.⁴

⁴ And of course, the parol evidence rule does not apply to begin with unless the parties intended their writing to be a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of their agreement, i.e., an integration. Moreover, where a contract is ambiguous, parol evidence may be admissible to explain the meaning of a contract an ambiguity, provided that the writing is reasonably susceptible of the meaning supported by the extrinsic evidence. (*Casa Herrera, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at 343; [continued]

But *Pendergrass* and sound public policy mandate that where, as here, contractual terms are clear and apparent and a party has had a full opportunity to read and understand the contract before signing it, the parol evidence rule may not be avoided by a claim of fraud in the inducement which alleges that the inducement to sign the writing was a statement about the terms of the contract — regardless of whether characterized as a "promise" or "misrepresentation" — which is directly contradicted by the signed writing. This is precisely what the parol evidence rule was designed to prohibit.

More should be required before a party can avoid his contractual obligations and pursue affirmative claims for damages, including punitive damages, than simply the claim that parol representations were made that contradict the terms of the writing. The rule announced by the Court of Appeal in this case (and in *Continental Airlines* and *Greene*) effectively abrogates the parol evidence rule and throws into question every contract signed or performed in California. No one can rely on their contracts because any unsatisfied party can later manufacture a story about alleged lies that might resonate with a sympathetic jury.

Moreover, barring parol evidence of alleged false <u>promises</u> but allowing parol evidence of alleged false <u>statements</u> invites gamesmanship and

Pacific Gas & Elec. Co. v. G.W. Thomas Drayage etc. Co. (1968) 69 Cal.2d 33, 39-40.)

perjury. It encourages artful pleading and slanted testimony by creative lawyers and opportunistic parties to recast "promises" as "representations," which leads to inconsistent and unpredictable results.

Nor should application of the parol evidence rule be controlled by the random manner in which words may be used by contracting parties – to be later interpreted by the courts – such that the pre-execution statement "the agreement will provide X, Y and Z," characterized as a <u>promise</u> of inclusion of contract terms, invokes the parol evidence rule, but the essentially identical statement, "the agreement provides X, Y and Z," characterized as a <u>representation of fact</u> regarding terms, does not.

The Court of Appeal's decision should be reversed and the summary judgment for PCA affirmed because PCA's alleged pre-contract statements about the terms of the forbearance agreement which allegedly induced the Workmans to sign the agreement directly conflict with the terms of the writing and are therefore inadmissible under the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule; and independently, because the Workmans submitted no evidence showing that their reliance on PCA's alleged statements and failure to read the agreement before signing it were reasonable.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE FRAUD EXCEPTION TO THE PAROL EVIDENCE RULE SHOULD NOT PERMIT A PARTY WHO HAS HAD A FULL OPPORTUNITY TO REVIEW AN AGREEMENT TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF PRIOR OR CONTEMPORANEOUS REPRESENTATIONS AS TO THE TERMS CONTAINED IN THE AGREEMENT WHICH ARE DIRECTLY CONTRADICTED BY THE SIGNED WRITING.

A. Background

1. The Parol Evidence Rule and the "Fraud Exception"

The parol evidence rule, codified in Civil Code section 1625⁵ and Code of Civil Procedure section 1856,⁶ "generally prohibits the introduction of

⁵ Civil Code section 1625 provides: "The execution of a contract in writing, whether the law requires it to be written or not, supersedes all the negotiations or stipulations concerning its matter which preceded or accompanied the execution of the instrument."

⁶ Code of Civil Procedure section 1856 provides: "(a) Terms set forth in a writing intended by the parties as a final expression of their agreement with respect to such terms as are included therein may not be contradicted by evidence of any prior agreement or of a contemporaneous oral agreement. [¶] (b) The terms set forth in a writing described in subdivision (a) may be explained or supplemented by evidence of consistent additional terms unless the writing is intended also as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement. [¶] (c) The terms set forth in a writing described in subdivision (a) may be explained or supplemented by course of dealing or usage of trade or by course of performance. [¶] (d) The court shall determine whether the writing is intended by the parties as a final expression of their agreement with respect to such terms as are included therein and whether the writing is intended also as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement. [¶] (e) Where a mistake or imperfection of the writing is put in issue by the pleadings, this section does not exclude evidence relevant to that issue. [¶] (f) Where the validity of the agreement is the fact in dispute, this section does not exclude evidence relevant to that issue. [¶] (g) This section does not exclude other evidence of the circumstances under which the agreement was made or to which it relates, as defined in Section 1860, or to explain an extrinsic ambiguity or otherwise interpret the terms of the agreement, [continued]

any extrinsic evidence, whether oral or written, to vary, alter or add to the terms of an integrated written instrument." (Casa Herrera, supra, 32 Cal.4th at 343, quoting Alling v. Universal Manufacturing Corp. (1992) 5 Cal.App.4th 1412, 1433.) The parol evidence rule makes an integrated writing binding on the parties "no matter how persuasive the evidence of additional oral understandings." (Marani v. Jackson (1986) 183 Cal.App.3d 695, 701.)

The principal purpose of the parol evidence rule is to protect the integrity of written contracts. (Casa Herrera, supra, 32 Cal.4th at 343 [parol evidence rule's "purpose is to make sure that the parties' final understanding, deliberately expressed in writing, shall not be changed." [quoting 2 Witkin, Cal. Evidence (4th ed. 2000) Documentary Evidence, § 63, p. 183]; Banco Do Brasil, S.A. v. Latian, Inc. (1991) 234 Cal.App.3d 973, 1011 [Contracting parties "should be able to clearly express their intent as to the nature and scope of their legal relationship and then be able to rely on that expression."].) Other important policy considerations underlying the parol evidence rule are "the assumption that written evidence is more accurate than human memory," and "the fear that fraud or unintentional invention by witnesses interested in the outcome of the litigation will mislead the finder of facts." (Masterson v. Sine, supra, 68 Cal.2d at 227; Banco Do Brasil, S.A. v. Latian, Inc., supra, 234 Cal.App.3d 973, 1008.)

or to establish illegality or fraud. [¶] (h) As used in this section, the term agreement includes deeds and wills, as well as contracts between parties."

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