NO. S190581

### IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE

#### STATE OF CALIFORNIA

RIVERISLAND COLD STORAGE, INC., LANCE WORKMAN, PAM WORKMAN, LAURENCE A. WORKMAN, CAROL WORKMAN AND WORKMAN FAMILY LIVING TRUST,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

VS.

FRESNO-MADERA PRODUCTION CREDIT ASSOCIATION,

Defendant and Petitioner

SUPREME COURT
FILED

On Review of a Decision of the California Court of Appeal
Fifth Appellate District
Case No. F058434

AUG 1 9 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ERIC A. AMADOR #143395 LaMONTAGNE & TERHAR, LLP

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

holding in *Pendergrass*. Fleury has never been overruled or distinguished by this Court.

## E. CONTEMPORANEOUS MISREPRESENTATIONS OF THE CONTENTS OF AN AGREEMENT ARE ADMISSIBLE NOTWITHSTANDING THE PAROL EVIDENCE RULE.

Fraud in the *inducement* of a contract occurs "where the promisor knows what he is signing but his consent is induced by fraud." (*Rosenthal v. Great Western Fin. Securities Corp.* (1996) 14 Cal. 4th 394, 415.) In that situation (ignoring for the moment any issues raised by *Pendergrass*), "mutual assent is present and a contract is formed, which, by reason of the fraud, is *voidable*." (*Ibid.*, emphasis original.)

In the case of fraud in the *execution*, as alleged here, where a party has been misled as to the content of what he is signing, the contract lacks mutual assent and is therefore *void* and "subject to rescission at the election of the person deceived." (*Speck v. Wylie* (1934) 1 Cal. 2d 625, 627, emphasis added, quoting Restatement of the Law – Agency, section 259.)

The California Legislature has made it clear that evidence of fraud in the execution is admissible notwithstanding the parol evidence rule: "A party to a contract may rescind the contract . . . [i]f the consent of the party rescinding . . . was . . . obtained through . . . fraud . . . exercised by . . . the connivance of the party as to whom he rescinds . . . ." (Civ. Code, § 1689, subd. (b) (1); *Rosenthal*, *supra*, 14 Cal. 4th at p. 415.)

Civil Code section 1689, as applied by the California courts in a long and substantial body of decisions, shows clearly that the Legislature intended the term "fraud" to include fraud in the execution of a contract and to afford relief to the defrauded party. (See, e.g., Simmons v. Ratterree Land Co. (1932) 217 Cal. 201, 208; Security-First Nat. Bank v. Earp (1942) 19 Cal. 2d 774, 777-78; Cobbledick-Kibbe Glass Co. v. Pugh (1958) 161 Cal. App. 2d 123, 127-28; Kane v. Mendenhall (1936) 5 Cal. 2d 749, 758; Wright v. Lowe (1956) 140 Cal. App. 2d 891, 897; Kloehn v. Prendiville (1957) 154 Cal. App. 2d 156, 162.)

This rule is not disputed here. Defendant itself concedes that "where the plaintiff is deceived as to the character or nature of the document he signs," "mutual intent is lacking and the contract is void because it was never formed." (Opening Brief at pp. 9, 15.) This vital rule that prevents a gross form of fraud, i.e., luring people into signing documents that are different from what they are supposed to be.

The court in *Pacific State Bank v. Greene* (2003) 110 Cal. App. 4th 375, explained why the holding in *Pendergrass* does not apply to fraud in the execution: (1) "The language of [Code of Civil Procedure section 1856, subd. (g)] is unqualified and does not limit the misrepresentations covered;" (2) "[I]t is not necessary to extend *Pendergrass* to cover factual misrepresentations over the content of the writing in order to safeguard the

vitality of the parol evidence rule;" and (3) "[A] further extension of Pendergrass would unduly restrict the statutory exception for fraud." (Id. at p. 392.)

The court further explained why such fraud does not run afoul of the parol evidence rule, even as to terms that conflict with an agreement:

In the case of promissory fraud, an earlier or contemporaneous promise is proffered in variance with the promises in the agreement; evidence of such a contrary promise goes to the heart of that which the parol evidence rule is intended to protect against. But a claim of a mischaracterization of the content of the physical document to be signed is more narrow in time and circumstance: It can only occur at the time of signing.... And the need to prove the element of reasonable reliance in order to successfully make out a misrepresentation claim also protects against abuse: In light of the general principle that a party who signs a contract "cannot complain of unfamiliarity with the language of the instrument," the defrauded party must show a reasonable reliance on the misrepresentation that excuses the failure to familiarize himself or herself with the contents of the document.

(Id. at p. 393.)

The court acknowledged that "there can occasionally be a fine line between a promise that induces an agreement and a misrepresented fact concerning the physical content of an agreement at the time of signing" (*id.* at p. 392), but concluded the *Pendergrass* limitation on the fraud exception "must not be expanded so as to undermine the vitality of statutory fraud exception itself." (*Id.*, p. 396.) As with *Fleury*, *supra*, 8 Cal. 2d 660, this decision remains good law.

Accordingly, nothing in *Pendergrass* requires excluding evidence of fraud in the execution, even as to terms contradicting the contents of an agreement.

### F. PLAINTIFFS WERE ENTITLED TO PROVE FRAUD IN THE EXECUTION

Defendant's contemporaneous misrepresentations as to the contract's contents fell squarely within the exception for fraud in the execution. The terms of the contract were materially different from those that Defendant represented at the time of its execution. It was not the contract that Defendant claimed it to be. It drastically shortened the term of the forbearance and encumbered many more properties, including the Plaintiff's home, than the Defendant represented. It called for far more security than the indebtedness to which it applied.

A similar type of deception occurred in *Pacific State Bank v. Greene, supra,* 110 Cal. App. 4th 375, where the defendant claimed she had agreed to guarantee one loan of a borrower and that, on the day she signed the agreement, the bank's representative stated the guarantee related only to that loan; the loan number and amount were even specified at the top of the guarantee agreement. (*Id.* at p. 378.) However, the fine print defined the guarantee to include "all of Borrower's liabilities, obligations, debts, and indebtedness to Lender," which actually included four loans. (*Id.* at pp. 380-81, emphasis added.)

Reversing summary judgment in favor of the bank, the Court of Appeal held that, even though its alleged misrepresentation was directly contrary to the express terms of the contract, the evidence was admissible under the statutory exception for fraud, even as to terms contradicting the contents of the agreement. (*Id.* at pp. 385-87, citing Code Civ. Proc., § 1856, subd. (g).)

Similarly, in *Fleury v. Ramacciotti* (1937) 8 Cal. 2d 660, this Court reached the same conclusion where a defendant signed a promissory note without reading it, in reliance on the other party's representation that it included a provision preventing that party from entering a deficiency judgment against him. (*Id.* at p. 661.)

The holdings in *Greene* and *Fleury* remain good law and are on all fours with the situation here. The *Greene* court's reasoning, quoted further above, sums up perfectly why the Court of Appeal's ruling in this case neither makes new law nor conflicts with *Pendergrass*: There is a simple distinction between excluding evidence of inconsistent promises leading up to the execution of an integrated agreement, and allowing evidence of contemporaneous misrepresentations as to the contents of such an agreement, as occurred here, even where they conflict with the terms of the agreement.

Also, the misrepresented contents were clearly material. "The test of materiality of the alteration is whether it changes the rights or duties of the parties, or either of them." (Consolidated Loan Co. v. Harman (1957) 150 Cal. App. 2d 488, 491.) "A misrepresentation is judged to be 'material' if 'a reasonable man would attach importance to its existence or nonexistence in determining his choice of action in the transaction in question,' and as such materiality is generally a question of fact unless the 'fact misrepresented is so obviously unimportant that the jury could not reasonably find that a reasonable man would have been influenced by it." (In re Tobacco II Cases (2009) 46 Cal. 4th 298, 326, citations omitted.)

For purposes of rescission, "[t]he test of materiality is that the contract sought to be rescinded would not have been made if the representation had been absent." (Shirreffs v. Alta Canyada Corp. (1935) 8 Cal. App. 2d 742, 748; accord, Wood v. Kalbaugh (1974) 39 Cal. App. 3d 926, 932.) "[T]he test . . . cannot be stated in the form of any definite rule, but must depend upon the circumstances of the transaction itself," and "the question is frequently for the jury whether the statement made might justifiably induce the action taken." (Prosser, Law of Torts (4th ed. 1971) section 108, p. 719.)

The statements here, regarding the term of the forbearance and the identity of the secured property, were clearly material, as they directly

affected the rights and duties of the parties. At the very least, there is a triable issue of fact as to how a reasonable person would view those terms.

### 1. <u>Defendant cannot excuse its Fraud by faulting Plaintiffs</u> for trusting its Vice President.

The fact that the Plaintiffs did not read every term of the contract before signing it does not bar their claim, despite Defendant's arguments at pages 36-37 of the Opening Brief. Defendant's representative and Vice President, their trusted friend, specifically told them to sign it at the indicated places rather than read it. Defendant cannot fault them for taking him at his word.

And even if one were erroneously to find any fault here, ""[n]egligence in failing to discover the falsity of a statement is no defense when the misrepresentation is intentional rather than negligent," (Sullivan v. Dunnigan (1959) 171 Cal. App. 2d 662, 668, quoting Prosser, Law of Torts, pp. 402, 748; Rest., Torts, § 540; see also Kantlehner v. Bisceglia (1951) 102 Cal. App. 2d 1, 3 ["whether the failure to read a document is such negligence as to bar relief is ordinarily a question for the trier of fact.

... Particularly is this true where the failure to read is induced by reliance upon the fraudulent representations of the other party"].)

For example, in *Cobbledick-Kibbe Glass Co. v. Pugh* (1958) 161 Cal. App. 2d 123, because the seller had deceived the buyer by tendering a contract without warning him that it contained language contrary to the

seller's oral representations, the seller could not use that provision to bar the buyer's fraud action in which he claimed reliance on the inconsistent oral representations, because "respondent was fraudulently induced to execute the contract." (*Id.* at p. 128.) "[E]ven if respondent was careless, his very carelessness might well have been induced by his dealings with appellant's representative." (*Id.* at p. 127.)

In *Gridley v. Tilson* (1927) 202 Cal. 748, 752, this Court recognized a defense to a contract where a party "was prevented by the agent from reading the limiting clause or was otherwise tricked into signing the document without reading it."

In Simmons v. Ratterree Land Co. (1932) 217 Cal. 201, 208, this

Court explained, "[a]lthough a purchaser may not offer as a defense against
the provisions of a contract that he failed to read it, if his failure to read is
due to fraud or trickery of the seller or his agent, the rule is otherwise ...

[In such a case,] there is fraud in the actual execution of the written
contract." (Emphasis added.)

In Security-First Nat. Bank v. Earp (1942) 19 Cal. 2d 774, 777-78, where the defendants signed an instrument without reading it in reliance on the representation of the plaintiff's employee, this Court held: "His negligence in failing to read the contract does not bar his right to relief if he was justified in relying upon the representations" as to its contents.

In Fleury v. Ramacciotti, supra, 8 Cal. 2d 660, this Court granted relief to a defendant who signed a promissory note without reading it, in reliance on the other party's representation that it included a provision preventing that party from entering a deficiency judgment against him. (Id. at p. 661.) It rejected the plaintiff's claim that Ramacciotti could not prove fraud "because of his carelessness in failing to read the renewal note," in light of the rule that "where failure to read an instrument is induced by fraud of the other party, the fraud is a defense even in the absence of fiduciary or confidential relations." (Id. at p. 162.)

Another formulation of the rule appears in *Kane v. Mendenhall* (1936) 5 Cal. 2d 749, 758: "Where one signs an instrument without reading it in reliance on representations as to its contents in fact false, the instrument may be avoided where a confidential relation exists between the parties." In fact, even the Defendant here admits, "a plaintiff can still present evidence of fraud in the inducement when it involves 'some breach of confidence.' An example of this kind of fraud might be where the defendant is in a fiduciary relationship to the plaintiff and by reason of this special relationship, *plaintiff may be entitled to rely on defendant's* statements of what the writing contains without reading it." (Opening Brief at p. 9, emphasis added.)

Such a confidential relationship clearly existed here. While the "existence of [a] confidential relationship between the parties ... presents a question of fact, ... confidential relations 'may be said to exist whenever trust and confidence is reposed by one person in the integrity and fidelity of another" (Kloehn v. Prendiville (1957) 154 Cal. App. 2d 156, 160-61), and Defendant's vice president was a trusted friend of Plaintiffs'. Also, under Commercial Code section 1203, "[e]very contract or duty within this code imposes an obligation of good faith in its performance or enforcement." Good faith is defined as "honesty in fact in the conduct or transaction concerned" (Comm. Code, § 1201, subd. (19)), and there is an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in commercial transactions under the California Uniform Commercial Code. (E. F. Hutton & Co. v. City National Bank (1983) 149 Cal. App. 3d 60, 73 n. 10, 74.) Accordingly, even if some special relationship were required, it existed here.

Defendant's few cases in opposition compel no other approach, and are clearly distinguishable. In *Madden v. Kaiser Foundation Hospitals* (1976) 17 Cal. 3d 699, 707, the terms fraud and misrepresentation do not even appear, and that case did not consider these issues. In *Rowland v. Paine Webber, Inc.* (1992) 4 Cal. App. 4th 279, 286, the court itself observed that there were "no facts tending to show ... fraud." And in *Rosenthal v. Great Western Fin. Securities Corp.* (1996) 14 Cal. 4th 394,

this Court took pains to limit its holding to only those cases where a party sought "to avoid an arbitration agreement contained in [a] contract," and acknowledged that other rules apply in cases outside that specific arena. (*Id.* at p. 423.)

Accordingly, it is no defense to say that the Plaintiffs were at fault for trusting their friend, Defendant's own Vice President, and simply signing the agreement as he urged them to with false contemporaneous representations, while even going so far as to use "Sign Here" tabs to speed up the process.

### 2. Plaintiffs did not bear the Burden of showing Reasonable Reliance.

Defendant now argues, for the very first time, that "the Workmans submitted no evidence showing that their reliance on PCA's alleged statements and failure to read the agreement before signing it were reasonable." (Opening Brief at p. 11.) However, Defendant (1) failed to make that argument in support of its summary judgment motion; (2) proffered to the trial court no "undisputed material facts" or evidence to support such an argument; (3) failed to raise that argument before the Court of Appeal; and (4) never asked this Court to review the issue. (See CT 1, pp. 46-83, as well as Defendant's Respondent's Brief, pp. 9-26.)

Accordingly, Defendant has waived this contention, and cannot raise it at

this very late date. (See *Munro v. Regents of University of California* (1989) 215 Cal. App. 3d 977, 988 [a party may not raise on appeal issues not raised in the trial court]; Code Civ. Proc. § 437c, subd. (b) (1) [requiring undisputed facts to support summary judgment motion]; *Village Nurseries, L.P. v. Greenbaum* (2002) 101 Cal. App. 4th 26, 47 [same]; Code Civ. Proc. § 437c, subd. (m) (2) [requiring additional briefing and sometimes even remand for additional discovery for affirmance on any basis other than those upon which trial court granted summary adjudication motion]; *Sunset Drive Corp. v. City of Redlands* (1999) 73 Cal. App. 4th 215, 226 [waiver by failure to raise argument in appellate brief].)

And in any event, as this Court has held, "a presumption, or at least an inference, of reliance arises wherever there is a showing that a misrepresentation was material." (*In re Tobacco II Cases* (2009) 46 Cal. 4th 298, 326, citations omitted. See also 12 Williston on Contracts (3d ed. 1970) § 1515, p. 480; Rest.2d, Contracts, § 167.)

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